A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Gary McCabe, the appellant below, asks this Court 

to review the following Court of Appeals decision. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

McCabe seeks review of Division Three's decision in State v. 

McCabe, No. 29785-3-111 (May 21, 2013). The court denied a motion 

to reconsider by order dated June 17, 2013. 1 

C. INTRODUCTION AND ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

McCabe was charged with residential burglary. The trial 

evidence would allow the jury to find that he only entered a fenced 

backyard, not a dwelling. Trial counsel therefore proposed 

instructions on the lesser included offenses offirst and second degree 

criminal trespass. 

After reviewing the statutory definitions of "building," which 

includes "fenced areas," appellate counsel argued the trial court erred 

in refusing to instruct on first degree criminal trespass. The Court of 

Appeals, sua sponte, cited State v. Brown, a 1988 Division One case; 

for the proposition that entry into a "fenced area" is second degree 

trespass, not first degree trespass. Division Three therefore 

1 The opinion and order are attached as appendices A and B. 
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· concluded the trial court did not err in refusing instructions on first 

degree trespass. 

1. Two other Court of Appeals cases have reached 

contrary conclusions on the question whether entry into a "fenced 

area" would support a first degree trespass conviction. Should this 

Court grant review to resolve the conflict? RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

2. Where Brown is not particularly visible, where the other 

two decisions have not been criticized, and where burglary and 

trespass prosecutions are common, should this Court grant review to 

provide necessary guidance on an issue of substantial public interest? 

RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

3. Was McCabe denied effective assistance of appellate 

counsel, and should this Court grant review, to remedy that denial and 

to provide guidance on how appellate courts should address such 

claims when raised in a timely motion for reconsideration? RAP 

13.4(b)(3), (4). 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE2 

The state charged McCabe with residential burglary. The state 

theorized McCabe had entered the Spokane residence of the Millers. 

The two questions at trial were: (1) identity, and (2) whether the 

person identified as McCabe entered the building, or only the fenced 

area of the backyard. Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 3-21. 

Evidence showed that someone entered the residence through 

a back window. McCabe was described as "stocky" and unlikely to be 

able to fit through the small window. His fingerprints were not found 

inside the residence. The witness who claimed to see a person who 

looked like McCabe only saw the person enter the fenced backyard, 

not the residence. Another woman, smaller than McCabe, was seen 

in a car that was observed parked in front of the Miller's. BOA at 4-5, 

20. 

At the close of the evidence, defense counsel requested 

instructions on the lesser included offenses of first and second degree 

criminal trespass. Counsel argued that a reasonable juror could find 

that McCabe trespassed in the Miller's fenced backyard, but also 

could find that someone other than McCabe actually entered the 

2 A full statement of facts is set forth in the Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 
2-15. 
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residence. 5RP 11-27; CP 90-93 (the proposed instructions are 

attached as appendix C). For this reason, trespass was a proper 

lesser-included offense. The trial court nonetheless denied 

instructions on both offenses. 5RP 24-26. 

On appeal, McCabe's appellate counsel argued the trial court 

erred in failing to instruct the jury on first degree criminal trespass. 

The brief cited the applicable case law and statutes on lesser

included offenses and properly discussed the legal and factual prongs 

of Workman. 3 BOA at 15-21. 

The Court of Appeals rejected McCabe's claim, reasoning "a 

person cannot. commit first degree criminal trespass by merely 

remaining in a fenced area." Slip op. at 5 (citing State v. Brown, 50 

Wn. App. 873,878,751 P.2d 331 (1988), abrogated on other grounds 

Q.y In re Restraint of Heidari, 174 Wn.2d 288, 274 P.3d 366 (2012)). 

"(T]he defjnition of 'building' for first degree criminal trespass excludes 

a fenced area." Slip op. at 5 (citing Brown, and the comments to 

WPIC 60.15). The court therefore concluded "a jury could not 

rationally find (McCabe] guilty of first degree criminal trespass and 

acquit him of residential burglary." Slip op. at 5. For that reason, the 

3 State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443,451, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). 
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trial court did not err in refusing the lesser-included instruction for first 

degree criminal trespass. ld. 

Division Three's analysis was offered sua sponte because the 

state did not cite Brown or WPIC 60.15. The state instead argued the 

trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the evidence 

supported instructions only on residential burglary. BOR at 5. 

McCabe moved to reconsider Division Three's decision. The 

motion raised three claims: (1) in light of Brown, the trial court erred in 

failing to instruct the jury on second degree criminal trespass, (2) the 

court should reach that issue in the interest of justice, and (3) in the 

alternative, the court should appoint new appellate counsel for 

McCabe, because appointed counsel had rendered ineffective 

assistance by not citing Brown and by failing to challenge the trial 

court's denial of instructions on. second degree criminal trespass. 

Assuming Brown is correct, appellate counsel made an error by 

(1) targeting the assignment of error and argument to first degree 

criminal trespass, and (2) not arguing the trial court erred in failing to 

instruct on second degree criminal trespass. This error was based on 

an erroneous assumption that a "fenced area" is included in the 

definition of "building." BOA at 18 (citing RCW 9A.034.11 0(5)). 

-5-



E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO PROVIDE 
CLEAR GUIDANCE ON WHAT DEGREE OF 
CRIMINAL TRESPASS IS A LESSER INCLUDED 
OFFENSE WHEN THE EVIDENCE SHOWS ENTRY 
INTO A "FENCED AREA." 

This petition arises due to an odd quirk of Washington law. In 

Brown, Division One held an express statutory definition does not 

apply to the same statutory term in the same title of the Revised 

Code. While McCabe takes no issue with the substantive holding in 

Brown, Division Three's sua sponte citation to Brown made it clear the 

trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the lesser-included 

offense of second degree criminal trespass. 

McCabe therefore asked Division Three to reconsider. 

McCabe's motion raised all of the claims raised herein, allowing 

Division Three a fair chance to decide them. 

The legal analysis is relatively straightforward. First degree 

criminal trespass is committed where a person "knowingly enters or 

remains unlawfully in a building." RCW 9A.52.070(1). Second 

degree criminal trespass is committed where a person "knowingly 

enters or remains unlawfully in or upon premises of another under 

circumstances not constituting criminal trespass in the first degree." 

-6-
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RCW 9A.52.080(1 ). The operative difference is between a "building" 

and a "premises." 

In unambiguous language, the criminal code defines "building" 

to include "fenced area[s]." RCW 9A.04.11 0(5).4 When writing the 

appellant's brief, McCabe's counsel therefore concluded the proper 

lesser-included offense was first degree criminal trespass, because 

McCabe's trial theory was that the person who was seen walking in 

the fenced backyard was not the same person who actually entered 

the dwelling. A rational juror could find McCabe was the person in the 

fenced area, and find him guilty only of trespass rather than 

residential burglary. 

McCabe's appellate counsel relied on fairly settled principles. 

The statutory definitions in RCW 9A.04.11 0 are used throughout 

RCW Title 9A. This would normally mean that "building" includes a 

4 RCW 9A.04.11 0(5) provides: 

"Building," in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes 
any dwelling, fenced area, vehicle, railway car, cargo 
container, or any other structure used for lodging of 
persons or for carrying on business therein, or for the 
use, sale, or deposit of goods; each unit of a building 
consisting of two or more units separately secured or 
occupied is a separate building[.] 

Emphasis added. 
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"fenced area" for any offense defined in that title. WPIC 2.05; RCW 

9A.04.11 0 ("In this title unless a different meaning is plainly required . 

. . ");State v. Lira, 45 Wn. App. 653, 726 P.2d 1015 (1986) ("building" 

includes "fenced area" for burglary in RCW Chapter 9A.52), rev. 

denied, 107 Wn.2d 1028 (1987). 

As Division Three pointed out, however, Division One held to 

the contrary in Brown. Citing legislative history from 1979 

amendments to the trespass statutes, the Brown court held 

The Legislature clearly intended to exclude fenced 
areas from the definition of "building" in the amended 
first degree criminal trespass statute. Rather, fenced 
areas were intended to be covered by the broader 
definition of "premises" in the second degree criminal 
trespass statute. 

Brown, 50 Wn. App. at 878. In other words, the Brown court relied on 

legislative history to hold the Legislature did not mean what the plain 

definition says. This is a fairly unusual jurisprudential event.5 

5 Courts generally do not look to legislative history to determine the 
meaning of unambiguous statutes. State v. Velasquez, 176 Wn.2d 
333, 336, 292 P.3d 92 (2013) ("When statutory language is 
unambiguous, we do not need to use interpretive tools such as 
legislative history"); C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima, 138 
Wn.2d 699, 708, 985 P.2d 262 (1999) ("Where the statutory language 
is clear and unambiguous, the statute's meaning is determined from 
its language alone; we may not look beyond the language nor 
consider the legislative history", emphasis added). 
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Relying on the statute's plain meaning, McCabe's appellate 

counsel mistakenly overlooked Brown and its citation in the comments 

to WPIC 60.16. In counsel's defense, it is rare when an unambiguous 

statutory definition does not apply to a statutory term. It is so rare, in 

fact, that two Divisions of the Court of Appeals similarly overlooked 

Brown when addressing the same question- whether a "fenced area" 

is a "building" for purposes of first degree criminal trespass. 

The first time, Division One overlooked its own then-recent 

decision in Brown. State v. Brenner, 53 Wn. App. 367, 380-81, 768 

P.2d 509 (1989), overruled on other grounds in State v. Wentz, 149 

Wn.2d 342, 68 P.3d 282 (2003). Brenner entered a fenced area and 

was convicted of burglary. On appeal he argued the trial court erred 

by refusing to instruct the jury on second degree criminal trespass as 

a lesser included. Division One rejected Brenner's claim: 

Brenner's argument assumes that the jury could have 
found that the fenced area entered did not constitute a 
building. As stated above, the fenced area of the 
wrecking yard constituted a building as a matter of law. 

Brenner, 53 Wn. App. at 380-81. This plainly conflicts with the Brown 

court's conclusion. 

Division Two reasoned similarly in State v. Padgett, noted at 99 

Wn. App. 1012, 2000 WL 96202, rev. denied, 141 Wn.2d 1012 

-9-
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(2000). The Padgett court held the evidence was insufficient to prove 

burglary, but because there was an entry to a "fenced area," the court 

concluded the evidence established first degree criminal trespass. 

The court therefore overturned the burglary convictions and 

remanded for entry of first degree trespass convictions. 2000 WL 

96202 at *3.6 

The Brenner and Padgett courts both relied on the same 

statutory definition on which McCabe's counsel relied. Like McCabe's 

counsel (and the state's experienced appellate counsel), those judges 

(and their clerks) overlooked Brown. 

After receiving Division Three's decision, the question arose as 

to how to fairly reconcile Brown, Brenner, and Padgett in McCabe's 

6 McCabe's counsel does not cite the unpublished Padgett decision 
as an "authority," but rather to show an interdivisional conflict justifying 
this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(2); cf. GR 14.1 (party may not cite 
an unpublished decision "as an authority"); State v. Franklin, 172 
Wn.2d 831, 838, 263 P.3d 585 (2011) (discussing and resolving 
conflicting unpublished decisions from different Divisions); State v. 
Arreola, 176 Wn.2d 284, 297, 290 P.3d 983 · (2012) (citing 
unpublished decisions to show how this Court had previously 
analyzed pretext stop issues under State v. Ladson); see also, State 
v. Higginbotham, 162 Wis.2d 978, 996-98, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991) 
(Wisconsin has similar rule barring citation to unpublished decision as 
"authority"; the Wisconsin Supreme Court held it is not improper to 
cite unpublished decisions to show an interdivisional conflict justifying 
the Supreme Court's review). 
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case. McCabe's motion to reconsider identified three possible 

options. 

First, McCabe asked Division Three to exercise its authority 

under RAP 1.2(a) and decide this issue in the interest of justice. To 

properly raise the issue, the appellant's brief needed no profound 

modification - the only changes would substitute the word "second" 

for the word "first" in the assignment of error and issue statement, and 

in a few locations in the argument. Second degree trespass meets 

Workman's legal prong as a lesser-included offense. 7 Division Three 

appears to have agreed the evidence met the factual prong when 

properly viewed "in the light most favorable to Mr. McCabe." Slip op. 

at 5. Allowing the issue to be considered would not unfairly affect the 

state, because the state's argument had nothing to do with Brown or 

the analysis of a "fenced area." 

7 Brown, 50 Wn. App. at 878-79; State v. Brittain, 38 Wn. App. 740, 
746, 689 P.2d 1095 (1984) ("[s]econd degree criminal trespass is 
applicable only in those situations where the defendant allegedly 
enters or remains unlawfully on private property not constituting a 
building, such as fenced land"); State v. Mounsey, 31 Wn. App. 511, 
518, 643 P.2d 892 ("second degree criminal trespass involves 
knowingly entering or remaining on premises in a situation which does 
not amount to first degree criminal trespass. Second degree criminal 
trespass then can apply only in situations where a person enters or 
remains unlawfully on premises other than a building, i.e., open 
grounds, yards, etc."), rev. denied, 97 Wn.2d 1028 (1982). 

-11-



As a second option, McCabe recognized Division Three might 

simply deny reconsideration without further comment. While that 

might seem efficient in the short term, McCabe argued it is not a just 

resolution and likely would create longer-term problems. Brown 

conflicts with Division One's decision in Brenner and Division Two's 

decision in Padgett, justifying further review in this Court. RAP 

13.4(b )(2). 

Third, the remedy for the denial of effective assistance of 

appellate counsel is to reinstate the appeal and start over. 8 The court 

therefore should appoint new counsel to argue that McCabe was 

denied effective assistance of appellate counsel. Current counsel has 

a conflict of interest that precludes counsel from arguing his own 

ineffectiveness. RPC 1.7(a)(2); United States v. Del Muro, 87 F.3d 

1078, 1080-81 (9th Cir.1996) (counsel should not be forced to argue 

counsel's own ineffectiveness; In re Frampton, 45 Wn. App. 554, 559-

60, 726 P.2d 486 (1986) (where effective assistance of appellate 

counsel is denied, the appropriate remedy is reinstatement of the 

appeal). 

8 McCabe's counsel apologized for overlooking Brown. Motion to 
Reconsider at 9, n.8. 
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As admitted supra, McCabe's appellate counsel made a 

mistake. 9 As a result of that deficient performance, McCabe has been 

prejudiced and prevented from raising a meritorious claim that would 

result in the reversal of his burglary conviction. New counsel should 

have been appointed to assist him in raising that claim. 

Unfortunately, Division Three chose option two. McCabe's 

motion to reconsider was denied without further comment. 10 This 

petition therefore follows. 

To summarize, review is appropriate for three reasons. First, 

this Court should resolve the conflict between Brown, Brenner, and 

Padgett. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Second, although Brown appears to have 

been properly decided, it is not particularly visible. 11 Brenner and 

Padgett remain uncriticized and can mislead unwary courts and 

9 Counsel relied on RCW 91.04.11 0(5), the definition of "building," 
which includes "fenced areas." BOA at 17-18. Counsel overlooked 
Brown, as did respondent's counsel (and the judges and clerks who 
reached the same conclusion in Brenner and Padgett). Whatever 
solace that might provide counsel's ego, counsel still erred. Counsel 
·admits he had no legitimate tactical reason for this error. Instead, it 
has always been counsel's interit to raise meritorious arguments that 
could result in the reversal of McCabe's conviction. 

10 The order denying reconsideration was signed by Chief Judge 
Korsmo, who was not a member of the original panel that heard or 
decided the case. App. B. 

11 See note 10, supra. 

-13-



counsel. Criminal trespass and burglary are relatively common 

offenses, and this Court should grant review to provide clear guidance 

on what degree of criminal trespass occurs when someone enters a 

"fenced area." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Third, this Court should grant review 

to ensure McCabe, and similarly situated others, receive effective 

assistance of appellate counsel. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 

F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should grant review. 

RAP 13.4(b), 13.6.