RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 23, 2013, 3:36 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,)	
)	
Respondent,)	No. 89125-7
)	
vs.)	ANSWER OF PETITIONER'S
)	COUNSEL TO PETITIONER'S
GARY McCABE,)	MOTION FOR ORDER
)	APPOINTING INDEPENDENT
Petitioner.)	APPELLATE COUNSEL

I. IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTY

Nielsen, Broman & Koch, counsel for petitioner Gary McCabe, requests the relief stated in part II.

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Counsel for petitioner supports petitioner's pro se motion for the appointment of independent and conflict-free counsel. As an alternative, this Court should grant review and reverse petitioner's conviction in a per curiam decision.

III. FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER AND GROUNDS FOR RELIEF

The facts relating to the motion and answer are stated in the petition for review. In short, appellate counsel was appointed to handle

the appeal in cause number 29785-3-III, from petitioner's convictions for burglary and possession of methamphetamine. On petitioner's behalf, counsel argued, inter alia, the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of first degree criminal trespass, because the evidence allowed the jury to conclude petitioner had only remained in a "fenced area." BOA at 15-21.

Division Three rejected the argument, concluding that a person cannot be guilty of first degree trespass if the record showed the person only remained in a "fenced area." State v. McCabe, No. 29785-3-III, slip op. at 5 (citing State v. Brown, 50 Wn. App. 873, 878, 751 P.2d 331 (1988), abrogated on other grounds by In re Restraint of Heidari, 174 Wn.2d 288, 274 P.3d 366 (2012)). According to Brown, entry into a fenced area can only support a conviction for second degree trespass. Brown reached this conclusion as a matter of law. Brown had not been cited in either the state's or the appellant's briefs.

Division Three's disposition of McCabe's claim raised another claim. Even if Division Three and Brown were correct, the trial court still erred in failing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of second degree trespass. M2R at 4-9.

McCabe therefore moved to reconsider. He asked Division Three to address the second degree trespass claim in the interest of justice. In

the alternative, McCabe was denied effective assistance of appellate counsel, because appellate counsel's brief did not argue the trial court erred in refusing instructions on second degree trespass. Counsel had no legitimate tactical reason for this failure. M2R at 10. The motion for reconsideration requested this relief:

McCabe asks this Court to reverse his burglary conviction because the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of second degree criminal trespass. In the alternative, this Court should appoint new appellate counsel to assist McCabe in raising that claim, and in arguing that he has been denied effective assistance of appellate counsel.

The motion concluded:

This Court should address the claim that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on second degree trespass. In the alternative, this Court should appoint new counsel to assist McCabe in arguing that current counsel has provided ineffective assistance.

M2R at 11.

Division Three denied the motion without further comment.

McCabe then petitioned for review in this Court, raising the same basic arguments. The petition raised this third issue:

Was McCabe denied effective assistance of appellate counsel, and should this Court grant review, to remedy that denial and to provide guidance on how appellate courts should address such claims when raised in a timely motion for reconsideration? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

P4R at 2. The petition also offered three main reasons why this Court should grant review. Pertinent to this answer is the third:

the remedy for the denial of effective assistance of appellate counsel is to reinstate the appeal and start over. The court therefore should appoint new counsel to argue that McCabe was denied effective assistance of appellate counsel. Current counsel has a conflict of interest that precludes counsel from arguing his own ineffectiveness. RPC 1.7(a)(2); United States v. Del Muro, 87 F.3d 1078, 1080-81 (9th Cir.1996) (counsel should not be forced to argue counsel's own ineffectiveness; In re Frampton, 45 Wn. App. 554, 559-60, 726 P.2d 486 (1986) (where effective assistance of appellate counsel is denied, the appropriate remedy is reinstatement of the appeal).

Petition, at 12.

Citing Del Muro, McCabe has now filed a pro se motion seeking the appointment of independent and conflict-free counsel. The motion should be granted.

The Washington Constitution guarantees the right to appeal, and the state and federal constitutions guarantee the right to effective assistance of appellate counsel. An appellant is denied effective assistance if (1) the legal issue appellate counsel failed to raise had merit, and (2) the appellant was prejudiced by the failure to raise or adequately raise the issue. U.S. Const. Amend. 6; Const. art. 1, § 22; Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 396-99, 105 S.Ct. 830, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 (1985); In re Restraint of Netherton, 177 Wn.2d 798, 801-02, 306 P.3d 918 (2013); In

re Restraint of Morris, 176 Wn.2d 157, 166-68, 288 P.3d 1140 (2012); In re Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 814, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). As set forth in the motion for reconsideration and petition for review, the refusal to instruct the jury on second degree trespass is an issue with merit. Had it been timely raised, the Court of Appeals should have addressed the issue. There is a reasonable probability of a different outcome than the affirmance of McCabe's conviction.¹

The right to effective assistance includes the right to conflict-free trial counsel. State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). Other jurisdictions also have recognized the right to conflict-free appellate counsel. See generally, Williams v. Moody, 287 Ga. 665, 667, 697 S.E.2d 199 (2010) ("a convicted defendant is entitled to appellate representation by conflict-free counsel as a matter of constitutional law"); Garland v. State, 283 Ga. 201, 657 S.E.2d 842 (2008) (appellate counsel appropriately raised the claim of counsel's own ineffective assistance and then sought appointment of new counsel to argue the claim); Commonwealth v. McBee, 513 Pa. 255, 261, 520 A.2d 10 (1986) ("When appellate counsel asserts a claim of his or her own ineffective assistance

¹ As stated in the brief and petition for review, second degree criminal trespass meets the legal prong of Workman. The Court of Appeals implicitly agreed the evidence meets the factual prong. P4R at 11; BOA at 15-21; COA slip op. at 5.

of counsel on direct appeal, the case should be remanded for the appointment of new counsel *except* (1) where, it is clear from the record that counsel was ineffective or (2) where it is clear from the record that the ineffectiveness claim is meritless," court's emphasis); State v. Lentz, 70 Ohio St.3d 527, 531, 639 N.E.2d 784 (1994) ("it should not be necessary to instruct public defenders if an actual conflict does exist at the appellate level that they should either procure a waiver of the conflict from the defendant or cease representation in the case. Any lawyer who does not do so is violating his ethical obligation to avoid conflicting representation, and also creates a viable claim for ineffective assistance of appellate counsel"); Murphy v. People, 863 P.2d 301, 304 (Colo.1993) (trial court erred by appointing the same attorney for post-conviction review who had represented the petitioner at trial, "causing an impermissible conflict of interest" that "[n]ot only ... harm[s] the interests of the client, who is entitled to the assistance of a zealous advocate, but [draws] the integrity of the entire judicial process ... into question"); Roberts v. State, ___ So.3d ___, 2013 WL 5506645, *1-4 (Ala.Crim.App.,2013) (conflict of interest precludes court from appointing post-conviction counsel to argue her own ineffectiveness); Osterkamp v. Browning, 226 Ariz. 485, 491, 250 P.3d 551 (Ariz.App. 2011) (post-conviction counsel cannot be expected to argue his own ineffectiveness).

When an indigent litigant presents specific, legitimate, and arguably meritorious reasons for his dissatisfaction with appointed counsel, substitution of new counsel is appropriate. State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 376, 816 P.2d 1 (1991); State v. Sinclair, 46 Wn. App. 433, 730 P.2d 742 (1986), rev. denied, 108 Wn.2d 1006 (1987). Substitution of counsel is warranted by a showing of good cause, "such as a conflict of interest." State v. Varga, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004) (quoting State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 705, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)).

As set forth supra, appellate counsel has identified the ineffective assistance claim. Because counsel cannot ethically argue the claim further, counsel requested the Court of Appeals and this Court to appoint conflict-free appellate counsel. Petitioner has now filed a pro se motion asking this Court to appoint independent counsel. The motion should be granted for the reasons stated in (1) the motion to reconsider and petition for review, (2) petitioner's pro se motion, and (3) this answer.